A. ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR 

The State violated the appellant's due process rights when the 

investigating officer breached the plea agreement by deviating from an 

agreed-upon sentencing recommendation. 

Issue Pertaining to Assignment of Error 

Did the investigating detective breach the plea agreement reached 

by the appellant and the State by arguing for imposition of the statutory 

maximum term of imprisonment? 

B. STATEMENT OF THE CASE I 

The State charged Ronald Wayne MacDonald with first degree 

felony murder of Arlene Roberts, who was killed during an apparent 

burglary of her trailer home in 1978. CP 1-10, 76-78. Police suspected 

MacDonald, who was leading a quiet life in Reno, Nevada, based on their 

belief that his fingerprints matched prints found on traveler's checks and 

bank documents found in Roberts's trailer. CP 52, 102-03. 

Following plea negotiations, the State amended the charge to 

second degree manslaughter. CP 78. MacDonald entered an Alford2 plea. 

I The brief refers to the verbatim reports as follows: 1 RP - 6111112 (CrR 
3.5 hearing and motions in limine); 2RP - 6112112 (CrR 3.5 hearing and 
motions in limine); 3RP - 6/13112 (motions in limine and jury selection); 
4RP - 6114112 (discussion of possible resolution); and 5RP - 6118112 
(Alford plea). The transcript of the August 8, 2012 sentencing hearing 
appears at CP 188-211. 
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CP 79-84; 5RP 8-13. The parties' agreed-upon recommendation was five 

years of incarceration3 suspended on the condition that MacDonald serve 

16 months in the King County jai1.4 CP 98, 101-10, 191-92; RCW 

9.92.060 (authorizing such a sentence). The primary detective, Scott 

Tompkins, was party to the plea negotiations and would have sat with the 

prosecutor at trial as permitted by ER 615. CP 112, 147-48; 1RP 9-10. 

At the sentencing hearing, the prosecutor made the agreed-upon 

16-month recommendation but alerted the court that Detective Tompkins 

also wished to address the court. The prosecutor informed the court she 

believed such argument was permissible because case law "tend[ ed] to 

support"S permitting a separate recommendation. Tompkins explained he 

was speaking on behalf of the deceased Roberts. Over defense objection, 

Tompkins presented pictures of the crime scene and Roberts, suggested 

that the DNA evidence (which excluded MacDonald) was contaminated, 

opined that the crime was one a 17-year-old (MacDonald's age in 1978) 

2 North Carolina v. Alford, 400 U.S. 25,91 S. Ct. 160, 27 L. Ed. 2d 162 
(1970). 

3 MacDonald argued the sentence should be suspended for one year 
whereas the State argued it should be suspended for five years. CP 98, 
198. 

4 This would have resulted in MacDonald's immediate release, as he had 
323 days credit for time served as well as good-time credits. CP 202. 

5 CP 193-94. 
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could have easily committed, and made other arguments in favor of the 

statutory maximum sentence. CP 192-97 (attached to this brief as an 

Appendix). 

The court imposed a mimmum sentence of 55 months 

incarceration, with a maximum term of 60 months, the statutory maximum 

for the offense. CP 99-100, 203-08; Supp. CP _ (sub no. 58, Order 

Fixing Minimum Term). 

MacDonald moved to withdraw his plea, argumg Tompkins 

breached the plea agreement. CP 111-78. The superior court denied the 

motion and ordered the case transferred to this Court. CP 212-14. 

MacDonald also filed a notice of appeal of the judgment and sentence. CP 

215-19. 

C. ARGUMENT 

THE INVESTIGATING OFFICER'S ARGUMENT IN FAVOR 
OF THE MAXIMUM SENTENCE BREACHED THE PLEA 
AGREEMENT AND VIOLATED MACDONALD'S RIGHT TO 
DUE PROCESS. 

"Plea agreements are contracts." State v. Sledge, 133 Wn.2d 828, 

838-39,947 P.2d 1199 (1997). In addition, "[d]ue process requires a 

prosecutor to adhere to the terms of the agreement." Id. at 839 (citing, 

inter alia, Santobello v. New York, 404 U.S. 257, 92 S. Ct. 495, 30 L. Ed. 

2d 427 (1971); Mabry v. Johnson, 467 U.S. 504, 509,104 S. Ct. 2543, 81 
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L. Ed. 2d 437 (1984)). When the State breaches a plea agreement, it 

"undercuts the basis for the waiver of constitutional rights implicit in the 

plea." State v. Tourtellotte, 88 Wn.2d 579, 584, 564 P.2d 799 (1977). 

A plea agreement is a contract between the State and the accused; 

because the accused gives up important constitutional rights by pleading 

guilty, the State must adhere to the terms of the agreement by 

recommending the agreed-upon sentence. Sledge, 133 Wn.2d at 839. The 

State's duty of good faith requires it not undercut the terms of the 

agreement either (1) explicitly or (2) implicitly, by conduct indicating 

intent to circumvent its terms. Sledge, 133 Wn.2d at 840; State v. Talley, 

134 Wn.2d 176,183-84,949 P.2d 358 (1998); State v. Jerde, 93 Wn. App. 

774, 780, 970 P.2d 781, review denied, 138 Wn.2d 1002 (1999). 

Because a police officer is an investigating arm of the prosecutor's 

office, "principles of fairness and agency" require that the investigating 

officer be bound to the prosecutor's bargain. State v. Sanchez, 146 Wn.2d 

339, 356, 46 P.3d 774 (2002) (Chambers, 1., concurring and dissenting) 

(joining four-judge "dissent" and thus constituting de facto majority on 

this issue). Sanchez consolidated two appeals: one involved an alleged 

plea breach by a Community Corrections Officer's argument at 

sentencing; the other involved an alleged breach by an investigating 
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officer. Id. at 342-44. The lead OpInIOn holds that neither officer 

breached the plea agreement. Id. at 355-56. 

The "dissenting" opinion on this point - joined by Justice 

Chambers -- holds that an investigative officer's recommendation 

differing from the prosecutor's recommendation constitutes a breach of 

the plea agreement. Id. at 362-63. This is so despite the language of 

former RCW 9.94A.1106 which permits an investigative officer to address 

the court at sentencing. Sanchez, 146 Wn.2d at 363. That statute also 

allows the prosecutor to address the sentencing court, for example, but 

obviously does not permit the prosecutor to undercut a plea agreement. Id. 

With Justice Chambers' "dissenting" vote on this point, this 

portion of the "dissent" constitutes the opinion of the majority of justices, 

and is thus the holding of the case. While the State may, as it has in the 

past, argue Tompkins was merely acting as the victim's representative, 

this argument does not withstand the holding of the majority of justices in 

Sanchez that an investigating officer, an arm of the prosecution, is not 

permitted to make such a recommendation. Id. at 358-59, 364. 

Under the holding of a majority of justices in Sanchez, therefore, 

Tompkins's recommendation breached the plea agreement. Such an error 

6 This provision has been recodified as RCW 9.94A.500. 

-5-



cannot be harmless. In In re Personal Restraint of James, 96 Wn.2d 847, 

849-50, 640 P.2d 18 (1982), the Court stated: 

When a prosecutor breaches an agreement by failing to 
recommend probation, a defendant is entitled to withdraw 
any entered plea or to have the bargain specifically 
enforced. This right exists even though the sentencing 
judge was not bound, nor even influenced, by the 
prosecutor's recommendation. 

(Citations omitted.) James relied in part on Santobello v. New York, 404 

U.S. 257. In that case, the state agreed not to make a sentencing 

recommendation as part of the plea agreement. Id. at 258. At sentencing, 

however, the state made a recommendation. In response to the defendant's 

objection, the trial court stated its decision was not influenced by the 

recommendation. Id. at 259. The Supreme Court, without doubting the 

sentencing court's statements that it was not influenced by the breach, held 

the interests of justice required that the defendant receive specific 

performance of the agreement or withdrawal of the plea. Id. at 262-63. 

Under James and Santobello, therefore, the breach of a plea 

agreement is never harmless error. The plea bargaining process requires 

that both the State and the accused adhere to their promises. When this. 

process is frustrated, the fairness of the sentencing hearing is in question. 

Such an error infects the entire proceeding and, as such, cannot be 
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harmless. State v. Carreno-Maldonado, 135 Wn. App. 77, 88, 143 P.3d 

343 (2006).7 

The State cannot seriously dispute that Tompkins undermined the 

plea agreement. This was a breach; this Court should reverse the trial 

court's order denying MacDonald's motion to withdraw his guilty plea. 

And because the recommended sentence was permitted by statute, 

the proper remedy for the breach is to allow MacDonald to elect whether 

to withdraw the guilty plea or seek specific performance of the plea 

agreement. State v. Barber, 170 Wn.2d 854, 873-74, 248 P.3d494 (2011). 

7 Carreno-Maldonado appears to misstate the holding of the de facto 
Sanchez majority as to investigating officers. Carreno-Maldonado, 135 
Wn. App. at 84. This statement is not only inaccurate, it is also dicta, as 
Carreno-Maldonado did not involve a sentencing recommendation by an 
investigating officer. Id. at 79. 
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D. CONCLUSION 

The State violated MacDonald's due process rights when it 

breached the plea agreement by undercutting the bargained-for sentence 

recommendation. This Court should remand so that MacDonald may elect 

whether to withdraw his plea or seek specific performance of the plea 

agreement. 
1l~