A. ISSUE PRESENTED 

1. The Washington Constitution guarantees the right of a 

representative of the victim to make a statement at sentencing and 

prohibits a defendant from using that right as a basis for error. 

Here, the victim of a 1978 homicide had no living family to speak on 

her behalf, and the sentencing court allowed the investigating 

officer to address the court as a representative of the victim. The 

detective asked the court to impose the maximum sentence on 

behalf of the victim. Where the State recommended the agreed-

upon sentence and did not undermine the plea agreement, did the 

State adhere to the plea agreement? 

B. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

Defendant Ronald MacDonald was originally charged by 

information with one count of murder in the first degree. CP 1. The 

Certification for Determination of Probable Cause described the 

underlying facts of the charge. 1 CP 3-9. In 1978, Arlene Roberts 

was an 80-year-old widow. CP 3. She lived alone in a trailer. 

CP 3. After noticing Roberts' absence, neighbors found her trailer 

in disarray and called the police. CP 3. 

1 MacDonald stipulated that the court could consider the facts set forth in the 
certification for determination of probable cause for purposes of the sentencing 
hearing. CP 193. 
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Officers located Roberts deceased on her bed. CP 3. 

Roberts' head was covered with a pillow, her blouse was 

unbuttoned, and she was naked from the waist down. CP 3. 

Roberts' wrists and ankles were bound with nylon stockings. CP 3. 

A garment had been tied around her mouth and a ligature made 

from a hair net was around her neck. CP 3. An autopsy 

determined that her cause of death was asphyxiation due to 

strangulation. CP 3. Roberts had also been beaten in the head 

and sustained a dislocated shoulder. CP 3. 

When officers located Roberts' body, her trailer had been 

ransacked. CP 4. Her purse was missing, along with a diamond 

ring that she always wore. CP 4. The original detectives 

investigated several leads, but they were never able to develop a 

suspect and the case eventually became inactive. CP 4. 

In 2010, a cold case detective submitted evidence from the 

scene to be re-examined due to technological advances. CP 4. 

The latent print examiner discovered that fingerprints on three 

documents matched MacDonald's fingerprints. CP 4. Upon 

investigating MacDonald, detectives learned that, at the time of 

Roberts' death, he lived seven blocks away from her trailer. CP 5. 

They also learned that MacDonald had been arrested for numerous 
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burglaries in several states, including two arrests in King County, 

Washington in 1978. CP 5. 

In 2011, detectives traveled to Reno, Nevada, where 

MacDonald was living at the time. CP 5. While talking to 

detectives, MacDonald did not directly confess to killing Roberts. 

CP 5-9. However, MacDonald made several statements 

connecting himself to the murder. CP 5-9. 

After beginning trial, the parties reached a plea agreement 

during voir dire. 4RP2 2. MacDonald pleaded guilty to 

manslaughter in the second degree pursuant to North Carolina v. 

Alford. 3 5RP 3, 8. According to the plea, both parties agreed to 

recommend that MacDonald serve 16 months of confinement in the 

King County Jail.4 CP 98. Pursuant to the agreement, the State 

would recommend a five-year period of suspended sentence and 

MacDonald would recommend a one-year period. CP 203. 

2 There are 5 volumes of verbatim report of proceedings. They will be referred 
to as follows: 1 RP (June 11, 2012); 2RP (June 12, 2012); 3RP (June 13, 2012); 
4RP (June 14, 2012); and 5RP (June 18, 2012). The transcript of the August 8, 
2012 sentencing hearing appears at CP 188-211. 

3 400 U.S. 25, 91 S. Ct. 160,27 L. Ed. 2d 162 (1970). 

4 This sentence would have resulted in MacDonald's immediate release. 
CP 202. The sentence is pursuant to RCW 9.92.060. This sentence is not 
pursuant to the Sentencing Reform Act, because the crime was committed 
before the Sentencing Reform Act went into effect. CP 206. 
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At the sentencing hearing, the State asked the court to follow 

the terms of the plea agreement and impose 16 months of 

incarceration. CP 191. The State informed the court that Detective 

Tompkins wanted to address the court on behalf of the victim, who 

had no living family members to speak on her behalf.5 CP 191-92. 

The prosecutor informed the court that she did not know what 

Tompkins would say, but affirmed her recommendation for the 

16-month sentence. CP 192. The court agreed to hear from 

Tompkins. CP 192. 

stated: 

In Tompkins' address to the court on the victim's behalf, he 

I feel obligated to ask for the maximum sentence in 
this case. This woman was born in 1898 and she 
has no living family. No one to speak on her behalf. 
And so, I know that you heard a lot in the 3.5 hearing 
about what happened in Reno in our interview of the 
defendant, but I also would like to introduce what 
happened to the victim. And I don't think you saw 
those and I'd like to present those to you. 

CP 192. Tompkins then submitted photos of the crime scene to be 

marked as a sentencing exhibit. CP 192. Defense counsel 

objected to the submission of the photos and to Tompkins' request 

for the maximum sentence. CP 193. 

5 Detective Scott Tompkins was the lead cold case detective investigating Arlene 
Roberts' death. 2RP 4. 
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The court overruled the objection noting that: 

The State is making its recommendation and it's 
adhering to that recommendation. As I understand it, 
Detective Tompkins is here speaking with respect to 
the victim. In many cases, if not all criminal cases, 
particularly serious ones such as this, a victim 
advocate very frequently speaks to the court on 
behalf of the victim. There is no victim advocate 
speaking here today, and I think Detective Tompkins 
may take that role. 

CP 194. 

Tompkins provided the photos to the judge and said that 

they portrayed how the victim was found in her trailer; "[s]he died a 

horrific death." CP 194. Tompkins addressed some of the 

evidentiary issues that defense counsel highlighted in their 

pre-sentence report. CP194-96. Tompkins also underscored the 

importance of the crime even though it occurred in 1978: 

This woman was a part of our community. And 
whether it happened 34 years ago or last week, it 
needs to be held to the same standard. This 
happened to somebody, and somebody needs to be 
held accountable for it. No more and no less. And 16 
months is not being held accountable. I think you'll 
agree once you take a look at the crime scene 
photos. 

CP 196-97. 

The court stated that it only considered the statements of 

Tompkins as statements made on behalf of the victim: "I want to 
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make clear that I allowed Detective Tompkins to speak insofar as 

he is speaking on behalf of the victim since there's not a victim 

advocate here today ... [s]o I'll take his comments as they pertain to 

his advocacy on behalf of the victim." CP 197. 

When the court issued its sentence, it noted that, "perhaps 

the most relevant thing about this case is the nature of the offense 

back in 1978." CP 207. The court imposed the maximum sentence 

of 60 months of confinement with a minimum sentence of 55 

months. CP 208. The court stated that imposing "the sentence 

recommended by the parties" would result in "a miscarriage of 

justice" and "would seriously deprecate the nature of that crime, 

and would be an affront to justice as well as the memory of 

Mrs. Roberts." CP 208. 

After defense counsel informed the court that the defendant 

was considering filing a motion to withdraw the plea of guilty based 

on Tompkins' statements, the court reiterated that it only 

considered Tompkins' statements as those of a representative of 

the victim. CP 210. Additionally, the court indicated that it would 

have imposed the same sentence regardless of Tompkins' 

statements to the court. CP 210. 
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C. ARGUMENT 

1. THE WASHINGTON CONSTITUTION 
GUARANTEES THE RIGHT OF A VICTIM'S 
REPRESENTATIVE TO MAKE A STATEMENT AT 
SENTENCING AND PROHIBITS A DEFENDANT 
FROM USING THAT RIGHT AS A BASIS FOR 
ERROR IN FAVOR OF THE DEFENDANT. 

MacDonald claims that the State violated the plea 

agreement when Tompkins addressed the court as a representative 

of the victim and asked for the maximum term of confinement on 

her behalf. This argument should be rejected. The Washington 

Constitution guarantees that a representative of a deceased victim 

may address the sentencing court, and, here, the trial court 

properly allowed Tompkins to speak as a representative of the 

victim. In any event, the State did not breach the plea agreement. 

a. The Trial Court Properly Exercised Its 
Discretion To Allow Detective Tompkins To 
Address The Court As A Representative Of 
The Deceased Victim. 

Article 1, § 35 of the Washington Constitution grants crime 

victims constitutional rights during the sentencing phase of a 

defendant's trial and expressly provides that a defendant may not 

use those rights as a basis for error in the defendant's favor: 

... victims of crime are hereby granted the following 
basic and fundamental rights ... a victim of a crime 
charged as a felony shall have the right. .. to make a 
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statement at sentencing[.] In the event the victim 
is deceased, incompetent, a minor, or otherwise 
unavailable, the prosecuting attorney may identify 
a representative to appear to exercise the victim's 
rights. This provision shall not constitute a basis 
for error in favor of a defendant in a criminal 
proceeding[.] 

Art. 1, § 35 (emphasis added). 

Additionally, RCW 7.69.030, governing the rights of victims, 

survivors, and witnesses, requires that "any criminal court" "shall 

make a reasonable effort" to ensure the right of victims and 

survivors of victims "to present a statement personally or by 

representation, at the sentencing hearing for felony convictions." 

RCW 7.69.030(14) (emphasis added). In RCW 7.69.010, the 

legislature articulated its intent that "the rights extended in this 

chapter to victims, survivors of victims, and witnesses of crime are 

honored and protected by law enforcement agencies, 

prosecutors, and judges in a manner no less vigorous than the 

protections afforded criminal defendants." (Emphasis added). 

Finally, RCW 9.94A.5006 directs that sentencing courts shall 

consider: 

6 This statute was previously codified as RCW 9.94A.11 O. The section of RCW 
9.94A.500 regarding the burden of proof for prior convictions was found 
unconstitutional. State v. Hunley, 175 Wn.2d 901, 287 P.3d 584 (2012) . 
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[A]ny victim impact statement and criminal history, 
and allow arguments from the prosecutor, the defense 
counsel, the offender, the victim, the survivor of the 
victim, or a representative of the victim or survivor, 
and an investigative law enforcement officer as to 
the sentence to be imposed. 

(Emphasis added). The Supreme Court observed that this statute, 

as codified in its previous form, provides "a baseline - a minimum 

amount of information which, if available and offered, must be 

considered in sentencing." State v. Mail, 121 Wn.2d 707, 711,854 

P.2d 1042 (1993). 

Furthermore, courts have discretion to decide who is allowed 

to speak at sentencing. State v. Lindahl, 114 Wn. App. 1, 56 P.3d 

589 (2002). The list of persons entitled to speak contained in the 

statute governing sentencing hearings is inclusive rather than 

exclusive. State v. Hixson, 94 Wn. App. 862, 866, 973 P.2d 496 

(1999). Additionally, the statute governing sentencing hearings 

does not limit the court's discretion in hearing from others. ~ 

Here, in light of the constitutional rights guaranteed to crime 

victims, and in light of the court's discretion, the court properly 

allowed Tompkins to speak as a representative of the victim. 

Additionally, the constitution specifically prohibits a defendant from 

using a statement made by a representative of the victim as a basis 
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for error, thus. Thus, MacDonald's claim based on Tompkins' 

statement is barred. 

b. The State Adhered To The Plea Agreement 
Where It Did Not Undermine The Agreement 
And Alerted The Court That Tompkins Wanted 
To Address The Court As A Representative Of 
The Victim. 

Due process requires a prosecutor to adhere to the terms of 

a plea agreement. Santobello v. New York, 404 U.S. 257,262, 92 

S. Ct. 495,30 L. Ed. 2d 427 (1971). A plea agreement is a contract 

between the State and the defendant. State v. Sledge, 133 Wn.2d 

828, 947 P.2d 1199 (1997). Because a defendant gives up 

important constitutional rights by agreeing to a plea bargain, the 

State must adhere to the terms of the agreement by recommending 

the agreed-upon sentence. kl at 839. 

The State need not make the sentencing recommendation 

enthusiastically. State v. Talley, 134 Wn.2d 176, 183,949 P.2d 

358 (1998). However, "[the State] is obliged to act in good faith, 

participate in the sentencing proceedings, answer the court's 

questions candidly in accordance with [the duty of candor toward 

the tribunal] and ... not hold back relevant information regarding the 

plea agreement." kl 
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In declining to adopt a rule, the Supreme Court noted the 

difficulty in "forg[ing] a rule of general application that establishes a 

bright line between adherence and undercutting [the plea]." 1.9.:. at 

187. A breach does not occur unless the State undercuts its 

obligations under the plea agreement explicitly or by conduct 

showing an intent to circumvent the terms. State v. Jerde, 93 

Wn. App. 774, 780, 970 P.2d 781 (1999). Similarly, a breach does 

not occur when a prosecutor advises the court of individuals who 

wish to testify at a sentencing hearing. State v. Davis, 43 Wn. App. 

832,837,720 P.2d 454, review denied, 106 Wn.2d 1017 (1986). 

To determine whether a breach occurred, reviewing courts examine 

a prosecutor's actions and comments objectively from the 

sentencing record as a whole. State v. Carreno-Maldonado, 135 

Wn. App. 77, 83, 143 P.3d 343 (2006). 

Here, in examining the entirety of the sentencing record, the 

State did not undercut the plea agreement explicitly or implicitly. 

The State twice recommended that the court impose the agreed

upon sentence of 16 months. CP 191-92. In making the State's 

recommendation to the court, the prosecutor did not present 

argument nor did she reference the facts of the case. CP 191-92. 

After making the State's recommendation, the prosecutor simply 
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informed the court that Tompkins wished to speak on behalf of the 

victim. Upon doing so, the prosecutor advised the court that she 

did not know what Tompkins was planning to say on behalf of the 

victim and reiterated her support for the agreed recommendation, 

stating, "My recommendation is still solidly for 16 months[.]" 

CP 192. 

MacDonald relies on State v. Sanchez7 to support his claim 

that Tompkins breached the plea agreement. This argument is 

misplaced. In a plurality opinion, the court in Sanchez held that 

investigating officers are bound by the plea agreement as an 

investigative arm of the prosecutor. 146 Wn.2d at 356-57 

(J. Chambers, Concurring opinion). However, that decision is 

inapposite here. In Sanchez, both the victim and her parents 

addressed the sentencing court and the officer never claimed he 

was addressing the court on behalf of the victim. 146 Wn.2d at 

343. These facts are unlike the present circumstances. 

Additionally, the court's decision in Sanchez is inapposite because 

it did not address the issue of whether an officer may address the 

sentencing court as a representative of the victim. 

7 146 Wn.2d 339, 46 P.3d 774 (2002). 
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Here, as the court repeatedly noted, Tompkins addressed 

the court as a representative of Arlene Roberts, the deceased 

victim. By 2012, Roberts, who was born in 1898 and slain in 1978, 

had no living family members to address the court on her behalf. 

CP 1, 192. Tompkins conveyed information to the sentencing court 

regarding the victim's final living moments. CP 194. Additionally, 

Tompkins stressed that although Roberts had been killed many 

years before MacDonald was sentenced, she was "a part of our 

community, and whether it happened 34 years ago or last week, it 

needs to be held to the same standard." CP 196. There is no 

evidence that Tompkins' statements were anything but an effort to 

promulgate the victim's rights. 

Furthermore, Tompkins' statements did not affect the 

sentence. The trial court was familiar with the essential facts of the 

case from reviewing the Certification for Determination of Probable 

Cause and from presiding over multi-day pretrial hearings. Before 

imposing the sentence, the court orally reviewed the facts, 

evidentiary issues, and acknowledged MacDonald's lack of recent 

criminal history. CP 204-07. The court stressed that in light of the 

nature of the offense, it would be a "miscarriage of justice" to 

impose the recommended sentence. CP 207-08. The court 
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repeated that it only considered Tompkins' statements as a 

substitution for a victim advocate and confirmed that the same 

sentence would have been imposed if Tompkins had not addressed 

the court. CP 210. 

Here, the court properly allowed Tompkins to address the 

court as a representative of the victim and the constitution 

specifically prohibits a defendant from using a statement made by a 

representative of the victim as a basis for error. Additionally, 

because the State adhered to the plea agreement, MacDonald's 

due process rights were not violated and this Court should deny his 

request to have this case remanded. 

D. CONCLUSION 

For all of the foregoing reasons, the State respectfully asks 

this Court to deny MacDonald's request for remand.